THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County
Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge
App. Case No. 2014-000632

RECEIVED
APR 12 2015
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE

Respondent,

v.

KYLIE NILSON

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

M. Gregory McCollum
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT
Complete Legal Defense Team
1012 38th Avenue North, Suite 202
Myrtle Beach, SC 29577
Phone: (843) 626-5480

May 7, 2015
Myrtle Beach, SC

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN AFFIRMING THE LOWER COURT'S RULING FAILING TO GRANT CONTINUANCE TO APPELLANT?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN AFFIRMING THE LOWER COURT'S RULING REQUIRING THE STATE TO PROVIDE COMPLETE VIDEO TAPING OF THE APPELLANTS TRAFFIC STOP?
3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN AFFIRMING THE LOWER COURT'S RULING ALLOWING THE CASE TO GO FORWARD WITHOUT A SWORN AFFIDAVIT BY THE ARRESTING OFFICER EXPLAINING WHY THE APPELLANT WAS NOT VIDEO TAPED THROUGHOUT HER TRAFFIC STOP.
4. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN AFFIRMING THE LOWER COURT'S RULING ALLOWING XANAX BE INTRODUCED INTO TESTIMONY?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The above named appellant, Kylie Nilson, by and through her attorney, Greg McCollum, is appealing her October 8, 2013 jury trial in absentia conviction, following her December 4, 2011 arrest under the State's Driving With an Unlawful Alcohol Concentration statute. That conviction was upheld by Horry County Circuit Court Judge, Benjamin H. Culberson, on March 14, 2014.

FACTS

On December 4, 2014, at approximately 2:15 am, Ms. Nilson was detained by Trooper Wilkes, an off-duty state trooper who was returning from a family emergency when he observed Ms. Nilson driving erratically. (R. p. 106, lines 2 – p. 107, line 22). After following Nilson for ¼ - ½ mile, Trooper Wilkes initiated his blue light (R. p. 107, lines 20-22), without manually starting his video recording equipment. He then pulled appellant over to the side of Postal Way Road. Trooper Wilkes approached the vehicle and determined Ms. Nilson may be under the

influence of alcohol. (R. p. 108, line 9-13). Trooper Wilkes then returned to his police vehicle and called dispatch who then summoned an on-duty officer, Trooper Weldon. (R. p. 108, lines 13-17). After dispatch called Trooper Weldon and he responded, he initiated his blue light which automatically began his video recording equipment on his patrol car. (R. p. 143, lines 5-7).

Testimony at trial did not determine when Trooper Weldon turned on the video camera, only that he did so en route to the scene of Trooper Wilkes car stop. Once the recording began, it took two and a half minutes before Weldon parked behind Nilson's stopped vehicle. When Trooper Weldon arrived, his first question to Wilkes was whether a recording had been made. (R. p. 143, lines 14-16). It appears from the roadside video, which is garbled to some degree, that Wilkes responded, "trying to get the button to work." Returning from a personal trip in his marked highway patrol car, Trooper Wilkes observed a vehicle driven by Appellant Kylie Nilson and decided to pull the car over for a traffic stop. (R. p. 107, lines 20-22). The vehicle being observed was not videotaped as it drove in front of Trooper Weldon. The activation of the blue lights and stop were not video recorded. The approach to the vehicle by Trooper Weldon was not videotaped, the conversation between Ms. Nilson and Trooper Weldon was not video recorded, nor was the taking of Ms. Nilson's driver's license, nor the wait for an on-duty trooper to arrive.

Wilkes, a 15 year veteran, testified his video equipment was in working order. (R. p. 121, lines 4-10). No video of the stop was provided to the defense and both troopers testified no recording was made until Trooper Weldon began recording his route to Ms. Nilson's traffic stop.

No sworn affidavit explaining why no video had been made was provided to the defense. (R. p. 63, lines 2-9).

During observation at the J. Reuben Long Detention Center, while waiting to take the

breath test, Ms. Nilson admitted she had taken a Xanax. (R. p. 193, line 21 – p. 194, line 3). This was recorded and allowed into evidence at trial.

ARGUMENTS

I. BECAUSE APPELLANT HAD NOT RECEIVED PROPER NOTICE BY THE COURT AND WAS NOT PRESENT FOR TRIAL THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY NOT GRANTING A CONTINUANCE.

The defense requested a continuance based upon the discovery that the appellant had not been properly notified by counsel. (R. p. 285, line 7-14). Counsel telephoned appellant the day prior to remind her of her trial and learned she had not received notice either from the defense counsel's office or the Court and that she had moved to California and would be unable to attend her trial the following day. (R. p. 285, line 10-11). Counsel apologized to the Court and explained that his office was in transition and that both of the legal secretaries hired in his firm had been replaced the previous month. Furthermore, Counsel stated that Kylie Nilson had not received any notice served by the Court but relied on counsel's office to advise her of her trial date.

Appellant acknowledges that "the authority of the Court to grant continuances and to determine the order in which cases shall be heard is derived from its power to hear and decide cases," Williams v. Bordon's Inc., 274 S.C. 275, 279, 262 S.E.2d 881, 883 (1980). Appellant is not sure the Court was aware of the number of times the case had been "continued" by the State. Because Ms. Nilson's case was, for whatever reason, missing from the Solicitor's docket which is provided to the Judge at the respective roster meetings, Ms. Nilson's case was originally scheduled for jury trial on July 18, 2012. (R. p. 285, lines 21-22). Nine times during the prosecution of her case, August, September, October, November, December 2012 as well as

February, March, April, May, and June of 2013 Ms. Nilson's case was not on the court trial roster and was not set for trial during those terms of court. Ms. Nilson was present in Court for trial July 18, 2012; August 15, 2012; and January 7, 2013; all three (3) were continued by the State. (R. p. 285, line 22-25). The two (2) continuances granted the defense were a result of defense counsel's unavailability to attend Magistrate's Court due to Court obligations in General Sessions Court on both the August 8, 2013 trial date and the August 13, 2013 roster meeting. (R. p. 285, line 25 – p. 286, line 3). A trial was never scheduled for the September term.

At issue, which Appellant believes is significant, are the occurrences or practice where cases are not scheduled for trial because it is inconvenient for the State to go forward. (R. p. 286, line 4-8). As in this case, because the Appellant was charged with the offense of Driving With an Unlawful Alcohol Concentration, it was necessary for the State to present an expert witness from the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED) to establish that the DataMaster machine was working properly. (R. p. 286, line 8-11). If a witness is unavailable to the State, the State has been allowed to exercise an option of not setting the case for trial, which is done by taking the defendant's name off the jury trial roster. (R. p. 286, line 11-22). The court roster is maintained by the Solicitor's office and provided to the judge. The Court is not asked to rule on a continuance motion because it is not aware that any case was omitted from the roster. These instances where the case does not appear on the court trial roster, the defense believes, are continuances allowed to be unilaterally done by the State without the Court's involvement.

Consequently, as a result of the prosecution's actions from the September 15, 2012 trial date until the June 2013 roster, Ms. Nilson was not listed on the roster or called for trial but one time, that being January 7, 2013 which was the State's third (3rd) continuance. For a period of

nine (9) months her case was not listed on the Solicitor's jury trial docket (R. p. 286, lines 14-16) and therefore, it was not continued by the Court. Ms. Nilson's case was, de facto, continued by the Solicitor's office without the Courts involvement.

While this activity may not have been apparent to the Court, it is a normal pattern of calling cases to trial within Horry County and throughout South Carolina. It flows from the solicitor's control of the criminal docket. This practice allows the State to continue a case without penalty or Court supervision or intervention. As the Court is aware, Section 1-7-330 S.C. Code of Laws, 1976 (as amended), which vested "control of the criminal docket in the circuit solicitor" was ruled unconstitutional in State vs. Langford, 235 S.E.2d 471 (S.C. 2012). (R. p. 287, lines 7-14). Langford specifically took the docket from the solicitor's control confirming it "violated the separation of powers doctrine" and Section 1-7-330 was ruled unconstitutional by the South Carolina Supreme Court. (R. p. 287, lines 7-14).

It appears to this appellant that the Horry County Solicitor is, and continues to be, in control of the Horry County Magistrate's docket. The solicitor's agent not only chooses which case to prosecute but also chooses any case to continue without the involvement of the Judge or any legislative authority.

Secondly, the Court's reliance on Chief Justice Toal's Order 2011-03-21-27 regarding Disposition of Criminal Summary Court Cases dated February 14, 2011, specifying that no case shall be continued which is older than one year appears to be erroneous.

The order actually provides that any case in which a jury trial has been requested shall be held, "within one-hundred twenty (120) days of the return of the charging paper to the Court." (R. p. 1-2). Ms. Nilson's initial jury trial roster meeting was scheduled June 19, 2012, which was

one hundred sixty (160) days after her January 10, 2012 original bench trial date. (R. p. 288, line 5-8). Despite Chief Justice Toal's order, it took 160 days for Appellant's case to appear on the docket. (R. p. 288, line 5-8). The trial judge was not aware that the case was pending for jury trial until after the time restrictions ordered by Chief Justice Toal had lapsed.

II. BECAUSE OF THE STATE'S FAILURE TO VIDEO TAPE AS REQUIRED UNDER SECTION 56-5-2953, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY NOT DISMISSING THE CASE.

Trooper Wilkes, a fifteen (15) year veteran of the South Carolina Highway Patrol, was off duty returning from a "family emergency" in his marked patrol car. (R. p. 106, lines 2 – p. 107, line 22). He was dressed in a training uniform. (R. p. 107, line 25 – p. 108, line 3). Trooper Wilkes initiated his blue light at some point prior to the time of arrest stated on Ms. Nilson's ticket or police report. (R. p. 107, lines 20-22). Testimony on the actual time Ms. Wilson was stopped was never recorded on any police document and was not recorded on any video recordings made. Trooper Wilkes had the apparent ability to video tape the stop, but chose not to the turn on the vehicles video recording device. (R. p. 121, lines 11-22).

Once Ms. Nilson stopped, Trooper Wilkes approached the vehicle and began questioning her. (R. p. 107, line 22 – p. 108, line 13). Upon determining Ms. Nilson may be intoxicated, Wilkes returned to his patrol car and called South Carolina Highway Patrol (SCHP) dispatch who, in turn summoned an on-duty officer, Trooper Weldon. (R. p. 108, line 13-17). According to testimony, Trooper Weldon arrived at the scene sometime later. (R. p. 110, lines 2-3). From the time Trooper Weldon's video began recording his route to Ms. Nilson's traffic stop it took approximately 2 ½ minutes to arrive at the incident site.

Immediately, Weldon asked Wilkes if he had recorded the incident. (R. p. 143, lines 14-

16). Wilkes replied that he had not, even though he testified his video equipment was operable at the time he initiated his blue light. (R. p.143, lines 14-16). Wilkes testified that his patrol car did not have automatic videotaping instead he is required to flip a switch to activate it. (R. p. 121, lines 14-18). This action would seem routinely automatic for a fifteen (15) year veteran, but for whatever reason it was not done, (R. 289, lines 3-6), and no recording was made of the defendant's alleged, erratic driving, stop, initial interrogation or subsequent wait for the on-duty officer to arrive. From listening to Weldon's roadside video, it appears Wilkes tried to explain to Trooper Weldon something about a button. In any event, this failure to videotape or produce an affidavit is a violation of Section 56-5-2952 (A)(1)(a)(i) SC Code of Law, 1976 (as amended), which reads videotaping shall "not begin later than the activation of the officer's blue light." (R. p. 299, lines 1-3). This statute does not state the "arresting" officer, as it refers to later in section (B). It simply states the "officer's" blue light. Section (A) clearly states, "not begin later than the activation of the officer's blue light." (R. p. 37, line 24 – p. 38, line 3). It is the appellant's belief that the legislature clearly meant, "the activation of the officer's blue light" and requires any uniformed State Trooper, driving a marked State Highway Patrol vehicle, equipped with a blue light, a siren and an operable video camera to begin recording immediately. Trooper Wilkes initiated his blue light but did not record the incident for a period of time which was never accurately determined by testimony. In reality, Ms. Nilson was detained, unable to leave without her driver's license which Trooper Wilkes was holding, until the on-duty Trooper Weldon arrived some 3-10 minutes later.

III. BECAUSE THE STATE DID NOT FURNISH A SWORN AFFIDAVIT EXPLAINING WHY THE STOP AND ARREST WERE NOT VIDEO TAPED, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY NOT DISMISSING THE CASE.

While the arresting officer is responsible for the administration of the case and has the duty to “provide the sworn affidavit,” 56-5-2952(B)(1), (R. p. 61, lines 18-61), the statute does not specify that the videotaping begin by the arresting officer, simply that the arresting officer provide the affidavit. The South Carolina Highway Patrolman, Trooper Weldon, was required to provide a sworn affidavit that the stop was not videotaped by Trooper Wilkes prior to Trooper Weldon arriving on the scene. This failure to videotape does not comply with South Carolina law regarding videotaping of DUI and DUAC arrests.

The State cited State vs Landis, 362 S.C. 97 (S.C. 2004) wherein Trooper Davis observed:

[A]vehicle driven by Landis headed northbound on Interstate 85. Landis was weaving and straddling the center lane. A State Transport Officer had taken a position immediately behind Landis’ vehicle. The State Transport Officer initiated blue lights and pulled Landis over to the side of the interstate. Trooper Davis then pulled behind the Transport Police Officer.

In Landis, Trooper Davis was the arresting officer and, in fact, he did supply a sworn affidavit stating that his video equipment was inoperable at the time. Furthermore, the Court held that the affidavit, “has undisputedly been prepared and is in defense counsel’s possession at trial.” Trooper Davis’ sworn affidavit explained that his equipment was inoperable. (R. p. 62, lines 6-9).

The Court of Appeals affirmed Landis’ conviction relying on the facts:

1. The State Transport Officer and Trooper Davis arrived simultaneously.
2. A sworn affidavit had been provided by the defense by the arresting officer.

In Nilson's case the officers arrived at separate times and no affidavit was provided by either trooper explaining why Wilkes had failed to initiate his videotaping equipment even though it was operable at the time. (R. p. 69, line 7 – p. 71, line 20).

The defense argued State vs. Johnson, 720 S.E.2d 516 (S.C.App. 2011), a case heard eleven (11) years later than Landis. The Court of Appeals held that, "because Trooper Patterson moved Johnson off-camera to administer the breath test" and "did not submit an affidavit regarding either videotape." Johnson's case was dismissed. The Court ruled,

Failure by the arresting officer to produce the videotapes required by this section is not alone a ground for dismissal of any charge made pursuant to Section 56-5-2930, 56-5-2933, or 56-5-2945 if the arresting officer submits a sworn affidavit certifying that the videotape equipment at the time of the arrest, probable cause determination, or breath test device was in an inoperable condition, stating reasonable efforts have been made to maintain the equipment in an operable condition, and certifying that there was no other operable breath test facility available in the county or, in the alternative, submits a sworn affidavit certifying that it was physically impossible to produce the videotape because the person [396 S.C. 188] needed emergency medical treatment, or exigent circumstances existed. Further, in circumstances including, but not limited to, road blocks, traffic accident investigations, and citizens' arrests, where an arrest has been made and the videotaping equipment has not been activated by blue lights, the failure by the arresting officer to produce the videotapes required by this section is not alone a ground for dismissal.

Summarizing Johnson, the arresting officer needed to produce an affidavit in the event excusable reasons existed that no videotape is available. In the present case, no affidavit was produced and both Troopers had working video equipment.

The defense cited City of Greer v. Humble 742 S.E.2d 15 (S.C. App. 2013), (R. p. 67, line 2 – p. 69, line 6), where the Court held that even though the City provided an affidavit, reasons were insufficient.

[T]he legislature's decision to amend the statute from only requiring the affidavit to state reasonable efforts were made, to requiring *which* reasonable efforts were made, evidences a legislative intent to require specific facts in the affidavit to allow a reviewing court to make a determination of whether the law enforcement agency provided a valid reason for failing to produce a videotape.

The defense contends that even had the State produced an affidavit in the current case, that affidavit would not rise to the level Greer requires and would require the lower Court to dismiss the case. Here, however, no affidavit was prepared or produced.

Relying on the Landis 362 S.C. 97, in this case, the trial Court ruled that the, “arresting officer *was* (emphasis added) Trooper C.D. Weldon, and he did not need to produce a sworn affidavit because he, upon arrival, immediately started recordation.” (R. p. 6).

Appellant contends that the Court’s ruling on the failure to videotape the stop at the scene is erroneous for obvious reasons. One, no affidavit was provided. Secondly, even if an affidavit were to have been provided, it would state that videotaping equipment was available, that it was operable, but that for whatever reason, it was either never turned on or was never provided to the defense.

IV. BECAUSE ANOTHER INTOXICANT (XANAX) WAS INTRODUCED AT THE TRIAL THE COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO PRESENT TESTIMONY OF PRESCRIPTION DRUG USE IN A DRIVING WITH AN UNLAWFUL ALCOHOL CONCENTRATION DUAC TRIAL.

Ms. Nilson was arrested for Driving with an Unlawful Alcohol Concentration and was transported to J. Reuben Long Detention Center. (R. p. 149, line 16 – p. 150, line 5). During the videotaping in the BA room Ms. Nilson mentioned that earlier she had taken a Xanax. (R. p. 193, line 21 – p. 194, line 3).