STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

MAY 13 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Horry County  
Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge  
App. Case No. 2014-000632

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

KYLIE NILSON,

Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, II  
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1276  
Conway, SC 29528

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Horry County  
Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

### I.

The trial court did not err in denying the motion for continuance, and the issue is not preserved for review.

### II.

The arresting officer videotaped the traffic stop and provided the video recording at trial, therefore the requirements of Section 56-5-2953 were met. (Appellant's Issues II & III).

### III.

The magistrate did not err in not excluding evidence in the BA video that Nilson combined Xanax with alcohol where the evidence was relevant to explain Nilson's demeanor. Further, the issue is not preserved for review, an insufficient record has been provided for review, and any error is harmless where evidence of Xanax use presented in the BA video is cumulative to evidence in the roadside video that Nilson combined Xanax with alcohol. Additionally, the issue is abandoned on appeal as no authority was cited by Nilson in her brief to this Court. (Appellant's Issue IV).

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Appellant Nilson was charged with unlawful alcohol concentration pursuant to S.C. Code § 56-5-2933. She failed to appear for trial. Her counsel was provided notice that the trial was set for date certain on October 8, 2013. The jury trial proceeded as scheduled on October 8, and Nilson was found guilty as charged. The Honorable Chief Magistrate Margie B. Livingston sentenced Nilson to a fine of \$1,229.50 or thirty days imprisonment. Magistrate Livingston also issued a bench warrant.

Nilson appealed to circuit court and the conviction was affirmed following oral argument on March 12, 2014, by the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson's order dated March 14, 2014.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Respondent notes that Nilson's Statement of the Facts appears to be based on her counsel's recollection of the trial. A transcript of the trial was not produced for the circuit court and therefore, is not part of the record on appeal. The only proper sources for the Statement of Facts are the two video recordings designated by Nilson and the magistrate's return. Evidence indicates Nilson was drinking and taking Xanax, and her blood alcohol level exceeded the legal limit. The evidence concerning the traffic stop is summarized by the magistrate as follows:

Testimony was that Trooper Wilkes, an off-duty officer at the time, was following the defendant on Highway 501 East. She seemed to be having some driving problems, running on and off the road. He followed her (with no blue lights) until he later stopped her, inquiring if there were problems. Upon inquiry, he smelled the high and obvious odor of alcohol, called for an on-duty trooper. Trooper C. D. Weldon appeared and took over. Weldon's undertaking provided a video taping of all actions, to include Miranda rights, field sobriety test, and the arrest.

ROA, p. 6.

Observing Nilson in the roadside video, it is fortunate that Trooper Wilkes stopped the vehicle even though he was off-duty. He might have saved Nilson's life.

## ARGUMENT

### I.

#### **The trial court did not err in denying the motion for continuance, and the issue is not preserved for review.**

Nilson complains the trial court erred in denying her motion for continuance because she claims her trial counsel did not give her adequate notice of the trial. Nilson and her counsel blame the State and the magistrate for this result even though she admits her counsel received notice of the trial. A party cannot complain of error induced by its own conduct. State v. Whipple, 324 S.C. 43, 476 S.E.2d 683 *cert denied* 519 U.S. 1045 (1996). The Court of Appeals does not sit to relieve self-inflicted wounds. Rish v. Rish, 296 S.C. 14, 17, 370 S.E.2d 102, 104 (Ct. App. 1988) (Bell, J., concurring). Despite this diversion of blame, the circuit court did not err in affirming the magistrate's denial of the motion for continuance.

Nothing beyond the magistrate's return exists in the record from which this Court could ascertain the propriety of the magistrate's ruling. The magistrate's return advises that the appellant bears responsibility to provide any transcribed record for an appeal. ROA p. 4. Nilson did not provide a transcript of the trial to the circuit court. Appellant has the burden of presenting an adequate record that is sufficiently complete so that the appellate court is able to review the lower court's actions. State v. Knighton, 334 S.C. 125, 136, 512 S.E.2d 117, 123 (Ct. App. 1999). Without a transcribed record of the trial in magistrate's court, this Court is unable to determine what argument was presented by Nilson to the magistrate and what the magistrate's response to Nilson's argument might be. The record is incomplete, and therefore, the issue should not be reviewed.

Even so, based on the limited record remaining for this Court's consideration, the magistrate did not err. The magistrate's return noted the case was continued three times for the State and two times for the defense. The magistrate's return also notes Nilson and her attorney were properly notified of the date of trial, which was set as a day-certain trial on October 8, 2013. ROA, pp. 4-5.

At oral argument, Nilson alleged the State was at fault for not placing the case on the docket in the past. Further, in his brief to this Court, Nilson blames the State's "control" of the docket for her failure to appear. The State disagreed with Nilson's rendition of facts at oral argument, which Nilson repeats in her brief to this court. The State noted Nilson's argument was never raised to the magistrate. Nilson's attorney did not counter the State's recollection on this point. ROA. p. 301. An argument advanced on appeal is not preserved for review if it was not raised and ruled on below. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 134, 620 S.E.2d 737, 741 (2005). "Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for meaningful appellate review." Queen's Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 368 S.C. 342, 373 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006). An objection should be addressed to the trial court in a sufficiently specific manner that brings attention to the **exact** error. State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 446, 710 S.E.2d 55, 59 (2011). It is unclear, beyond the excuse Nilson provided for her non-appearance, what grounds Nilson's counsel argued in the motion for continuance.

Further, the State's administration of criminal dockets is not relevant to this case. Regardless of whether the case should have appeared on prior dockets, an assertion

unsupported by the record, there is simply no nexus between this assertion and Nilson's failure to appear for the date certain trial. Unlike the defendant in State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 735 S.E.2d 471 (2012), Nilson never moved for a speedy trial. Further, the separation of powers concern expressed in Langford is not present in the instant case, as the decision whether or not to grant Nilson a continuance was in the magistrate's hands, not the prosecution's.<sup>1</sup>

Additionally, the magistrate did not abuse his discretion in denying the motion for continuance. The case was set for a date certain. Notice was provided to Nilson's trial counsel. A trial court's denial of a motion for continuance is left to the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed absent an abuse of that discretion resulting in prejudice to the defendant. State v. Williams, 321 S.C. 455, 469 S.E.2d 49 (1996). Reversals from the denial of a defendant's motion for continuance are as "rare as the proverbial hens' teeth." State v. Mansfield, 343 S.C. 66, 73, 538 S.E.2d 257, 260 (Ct. App. 2000) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). Nothing in the record indicates the magistrate abused her discretion, notwithstanding Nilson's unwarranted attacks on the State.

---

<sup>1</sup> Although the State contends Langford is wholly inapplicable to the instant case, the State reserves the right to argue at an appropriate time that Langford was wrongly decided, should that time arrive.

II.

**The arresting officer videotaped the traffic stop and provided the video recording at trial, therefore the requirements of Section 56-5-2953 were met. (Appellant's Issues II & III).**

Nilson contends the magistrate erred in denying Nilson's motion to dismiss based on Nilson's contention that the videotaping requirements of S.C. Code § 56-5-2953 were not met. A video recording was supplied by the arresting officer as required by statute. Nilson raises this allegation into two parts. Respondent addresses both issues in this section. Review is limited by the fact that Nilson failed to provide a transcript of the proceedings to the circuit court. Accordingly, the facts for this Court to consider come only from the magistrate's return, which explains the evidence at trial as follows:

Testimony was that Trooper Wilkes, an off-duty officer at the time, was following the defendant on Highway 501 East. She seemed to be having some driving problems, running on and off the road. He followed her (with no blue lights) until he later stopped her, inquiring if there were problems. Upon inquiry, he smelled the high and obvious odor of alcohol, called for an on-duty trooper. Trooper C. D. Weldon appeared and took over. Weldon's undertaking provided a video taping of all actions, to include Miranda rights, field sobriety test, and the arrest.

ROA, p. 6. A thorough review of the five-sentence summary reflects that the magistrate did not abuse her discretion in finding the video recording met the requirements of the statute.

Section 56-5-2953(A) requires:

A person who violates . . . Section 56-5-2933 . . . must have his conduct at the incident site and the breath test site video recorded.

(1)(a) The video recording at the incident site must:

- (i) not begin later than the activation of the officer's blue lights;
- (ii) include any field sobriety tests administered; and
- (iii) include the arrest of a person for a violation of . . . Section 56-5-2933 . . . and show the person being advised of his Miranda rights.

(Emphasis added).

Section 56-5-2953(B) requires the **arresting officer** to produce the video recording described or submit an affidavit explaining the failure to produce the video recording.

Specifically, the statute requires the following:

(B) . . . . Failure by the **arresting officer** to produce the video recording required by this section is not alone a ground for dismissal of any charge . . . if the **arresting officer** submits a sworn affidavit certifying that the video recording equipment at the time of the arrest or probable cause determination, . . . was in an inoperable condition . . . . In circumstances including, but not limited to, road blocks, traffic accident investigations, and citizen's arrests, where an arrest has been made and the video recording equipment has not been activated by blue lights, the failure **by the arresting officer** to produce the video recordings required by this section is not alone a ground for dismissal. . . . Nothing in this section prohibits the court from considering any other valid reason for the failure to produce the video recording based upon the totality of the circumstances; nor do the provisions of this section prohibit the person from offering evidence **relating to the arresting law enforcement officer's failure to produce the video recording.**

(Emphasis added).

The magistrate found Trooper Weldon, not Trooper Wilkes, was the arresting officer.

The magistrate further found the video recording provided by Trooper Weldon met the

videotaping requirements of section 56-5-2953. The magistrate found “Wilkes, though an important core witness, was not the arresting officer.” ROA p. 6. The magistrate found that because Trooper Weldon was the arresting officer and produced a video recording, Trooper Weldon did not need to produce an affidavit attesting to why Trooper Wilkes did not videotape the stop. ROA p. 6.

The magistrate’s ruling was correct. On point is State v. Landis, 362 S.C. 97, 606 S.E.2d 503 (Ct. App. 2004). In that case, a State Transport Police Officer initiated blue lights and pulled Landis over to the side of the interstate. A State Trooper then took over the stop after the transport officer removed Landis from his car. The trooper performed the field sobriety test and placed Landis under arrest for DUI. The stop was not videotaped and the trooper submitted an affidavit attesting that the videotape machine in his patrol vehicle was inoperable at the time of Landis’ arrest. Id. at 100-01, 606 S.E.2d at 504.

This Court found that the trooper was the arresting officer, and therefore, the requirements of the videotaping statute were met when an affidavit he prepared was submitted to defense counsel. This Court rejected the argument that the transport officer was the arresting officer, finding the plain language requirements of the statute were met. In finding the trooper was the arresting officer, this Court noted he conducted the field sobriety test and placed Landis under arrest. Id. at 103, 606 S.E.2d at 506-07.

In the instant case, Trooper Weldon clearly was the arresting officer who executed the field sobriety tests, advised Nilson of her Miranda rights, and made the arrest. Accordingly, the magistrate correctly determined Trooper Weldon was the arresting officer and the statutory requirements were met by the video recording provided by Trooper Weldon.

### III.

**The magistrate did not err in not excluding evidence in the BA video that Nilson combined Xanax with alcohol where the evidence was relevant to explain Nilson's demeanor. Further, the issue is not preserved for review, an insufficient record has been provided for review, and any error is harmless where evidence of Xanax use presented in the BA video is cumulative to evidence in the roadside video that Nilson combined Xanax with alcohol. Additionally, the issue is abandoned on appeal as no authority was cited by Nilson in her brief to this Court. (Appellant's Issue IV).**

Nilson complains the jury heard her admit to taking Xanax during videotaping in the BA room and the magistrate erred in failing to exclude this statement because it was not relevant because Nilson was prosecuted for unlawful alcohol concentration.

First, Nilson cites no authority in her brief, and therefore, her arguments are conclusory and should be considered abandoned on appeal. State v. Colf, 332 S.C. 313, 322, 504 S.E.2d 360, 364 (Ct. App. 1998) (finding a conclusory two-paragraph argument citing no authority other than an evidentiary rule was deemed abandoned on appeal); State v. Jones, 344 S.C. 48, 58, 543 S.E.2d 541, 546 (2001) (finding the argument was so conclusory that it was deemed abandoned).

Second, no evidence in the record indicates the magistrate ruled on the alleged objection, which appears to be on the ground of relevance. The magistrate did not rule on the evidentiary issue in the return, and Nilson made no motion to remand so that the return could be modified to include the issue. Nilson was obligated to do so in order for the circuit court and this Court to review the issue. See Price v. Pickens County, 308 S.C. 64, 416 S.E.2d 666 (Ct. App. 1992); State v. Barbee, 280 S.C. 328, 313 S.E.2d 297 (1984); State v. Adams, 244

S.C. 323, 137 S.E.2d 100 (1964). Without a transcript of the proceedings, this Court cannot determine the propriety of the trial court's ruling, so this issue should not be reviewed. An issue must be raised to and ruled upon by the circuit court in order to be considered on appeal. State v. Lopez, 352 S.C. 373, 378, 574 S.E.2d 210, 213 (Ct. App. 2002).

Further, the evidence has logical relevance because her ingestion of Xanax helps explain Nilson's demeanor during videotaping. Note that Nilson fell asleep in the patrol car about thirty-four minutes into the roadside video.

For evidence to be admissible, it must be relevant. Rule 402, SCRE. Relevant evidence is "evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." Rule 401, SCRE. "Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears, and it is not required that the inference sought should necessarily follow from the fact proved." State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 126-27, 606 S.E.2d 508, 513 (Ct. App. 2004). Relevant evidence may be excluded where its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Rule 403, SCRE; State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 210, 631 S.E.2d 262, 266 (2006). A trial court's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances. State v. McLeod, 362 S.C. 73, 81, 606 S.E.2d 215, 219 (Ct. App. 2004). Determination of relevancy is largely within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of that discretion. Sweat, 362 S.C. at 127, 606 S.E.2d at 513. In the instant case, on the limited record before this Court, Nilson fails to demonstrate the magistrate abused her

discretion.

Additionally, any error in admission is harmless because it is cumulative to the extensive discussion between Trooper Weldon and Nilson in the patrol car during the roadside videotaping. Nilson admits several times to taking two Xanax pills with the alcohol she consumed (three beers) and admits she should not drink while taking the medication. See State's Exhibit #1 at approximately 16:30 to 18:30 and 21:30 to 22:00. Nilson admits taking Xanax for the last time at six or seven p.m. State's Exhibit #1 at 29:00-29:30. Admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence. State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 197, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448-49 (2003); State v. Johnson, 298 S.C. 496, 499, 381 S.E.2d 732, 733 (1989); State v. Brown, 344 S.C. 70, 75, 543 S.E.2d 552, 554-555 (2001) (when other properly admitted testimony reveals essentially the same information, the jury's exposure to improper evidence is harmless).

Accordingly, the conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

**CONCLUSION**

For all of the foregoing reasons, the judgment and conviction of the lower court should be affirmed.